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DECISION
and

DISMISSAL OF COMPLAINT

On May 22, 1981, Local 1303, Council #4, AFSCME, AFL-CIO (hereinafter the
Union) filed with the Connecticut State Board of Labor.Relations (hereinafter
the Labor Board) a complaint alleging that the Waterbury Day Nursery Association
(hereinafter the Association) had engaged and was engaging in unfair labor
practices in violation of the Connecticut State Labor Relations Act (herein-
after the Act) in that the Association unilaterally changed conditions of
employment without the consent of the Union by

1. Using a tape recorder to record the proceedings of staff
meetings;

2. Changing the time of an employee's morning break period.‘

Both changes occurred during an organizational campaign.

After the requisite preliminary steps had been taken, the matter came before
the Labor Board for hearing at the Connecticut Labor Department on January 18,
1982. Both parties appeared and were represented. Both parties were given the
opportunity to adduce evidence, make oral argument, and file briefs. The Union
filed a written brief.

Based on the whole record before it, the Board makes the following findings
of fact, conclusions of law, and order of dismissal.

Findings of Fact

1. The Association is an employer within the meaning of the Act.

2. The Union is a labor organization within the meaning of the Act.

3. On April 20, 1981, a representation election was ,held.  All members of
the bargaining unit voted in favor of the Union. The Union was certified on
May 19, 1981.

4. Mrs. Falcone  is the executive director of the Association. She has held
this position since 1966. 1
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5. Falcone began a practice of conducting staff meetings. They provided
an informal forum for discussions between the staff and the executive director.
Originally, the minutes of the meetings were written up by Falcone due to the
lack of secretarial help.

6. From 1972 to 1979 Falcone received numerous complaints from staff mem-
bers regarding inaccuracies in the minutes.

7. In 1979, a full time secretary was hired by the Association.

8. In response to complaints from the staff, Falcone utilized her secretary
to manually record the minutes of the meetings.

9. In spite of the change in the recording procedure, Falcone continued to
receive complaints about inaccuracies in the minutes.

10. Manual recording of the minutes was difficult since several people often
spoke at the same time.

11. On March 17, 1981, at a Board of Directors meeting, Falcone discussed
with the Board the staff's complaints about the inaccuracies in the minutes. The
Board recommended the use of a tape recorder but left the final decision on its
use to Falcone. The Board itself recorded the minutes of its meetings with a
tape recorder.

12. Also on March 17; 1981, at a meeting with an agent of the Labor Board,
the Association and the Union entered into an agreement for a consent election.

13. On March 24, 1981, a tape recorder was utilized for the first time at a
staff meeting. Its use was objected to by a staff member, Mr. Pelletier. who
claimed it "might be illegal."

14. The tape recorder was utilized at subsequent staff meetings on a
sporadic basis.

15. Staff members were aware at all times that the meetings were being taped.
Copies of the minutes'were distributed to all staff members.

16. After the Association entered into the agreement for consent election,
it expressed,its opposition to unionization through a series of letters to
employees dated March 26, April 2, April 10, and April 16, 1981.

17. Pelletier. has been employed as a teacher with the Association since
September, .1972. Prlletier was-also president and steward of the Union.

18. MaryBeth Owens  is a teacher aide employed by the Association. She has
held this position since June, 1972.

1 9 . The Association's policy.with regard to-the supervision of children in
its care is to assign one teacher and one teacher aide to each group of children.
Therefore, when either the teacher or the aide is taking a break, the children
are never unsupervised.

.20. Prior to September, 1980, Pelletier and Owens were assigned to different
groups of children. They were accustomed to taking coffee breaks together from
10:30  - lo:45  a.m.

21. After September, 1980, Pelletier and Owens were assigned to the same
group of children. If the children were in the classroom at 10:30,  Ms. Owens
would remain to supervise while Pelletier took his coffee break. If the children
were in the playground at 10:30,  Pelletier and Owens were able to take their
coffee breaks together because the children were under the supervision of the
other teachers in the playground.

22. On March 15, 1981, in order to ensure that the children in the Pelletier-
Owens group were always supervised bv either the teacher or the aide regularly
assigned to them, Mrs. Falcone directed Owens to schedule her coffee breaks for
lo:45  rather than at 10:30. On March 26, 1981, Falcone issued a directive to this
e f f e c t .
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Conclusions of Law

1. The Union has not shown that the instituting of a tape recorder to
record minutes of staff meetings in the context of this case constituted either
illegal coercion or discrimination under the Act.

2. The Union has not shown that the rescheduling of Owen's break time
constituted either illegal coercion or discrimination under the Act.

Discussion

The charge filed by the Union contains allegations that the Association
violated three provisions of Section 31-105 of the Act. The alleged unfair
labor practices are s(5),  discouraging membership in any labor organization by
discrimination... in any term or condition of emplo ment, §(6),  refusal to bar-
gain collectively with union representatives, and (lo),  doing any acts...whichii
restrain, coerce, or interfere with employees in the exercise of protected
rights. The Association allegedly violated the Act by instituting two changes,
both of which occurred between the time the Association and the Union entered
into.an agreement for a consent election and the date of the election. The
first allegation concerns the use of a tape recorder at staff meetings. The
second was the rescheduling of Owens' morning coffee break.

In its brief, the Union only argued,that the complained of acts constituted
illegal coercion or discrimination underthe  Act. No argument was made that the
Association's actions constituted a refusal .to  bargain under the Act. We there-
fore consider that the Union has abandoned that claim'and we treat only the
issues covered in the briefs.

The Act is patterned after the National Labor Relations Act. For this
reason, the judicial interpretation accorded the federal act is of great assist-
ance and persuasive force in the interpretation of our own act.
v. Connecticut State Board of Labor Relations, 142 Corm.  457,

Imp"';;  lwa;;dry
(19

first discuss the alleged coercion by the Association. Under the comparable
federal provision, 29 U.S.C. 5 158(a)(l), in order to establish an unfair labor
practice claim, it is not necessary to demonstrate that the employer's particular
act actually coerced particular employeei. It is enough to show that the alleged
act tends to produce a coercive effect. R. Gorham, Labor Law (1976); Cooper
Thermometer Co. v. NLRB, 376 F.Zd  684 (2d Cir. 1967). It is also not necessary
to prove that the employer intended to exert a coercive effect. While the federal
act appears to encompass a broad spectrum of possible violative employer behavior,
the United States Supreme Court in Republic Aviation Corp. v. NLRB, 324 U.S. 793
(1944),  tempered the language of the Act'by requiring that the Board balance the'
employees' protected rights with the rights of an employer to initiate actions
which advance a "substantial and legitimate company interest in plant safety,
efficiency, or discipline." Gorham, Labor Law (1976).

The facts clearly demonstrate that the inaccuracies in the minutes of the
staff meetings had been a consistent complaint of the staff since Mrs. Falcone
was hired as the executive director in 1966. Several improvements in the record
taking technique had been attempted. Initially, the staff meetings were very
informal, providing a forum for open discussions between Falcone and the staff.
During this time, Falcone had secretarial assistance during the morning. The
staff-meetings were held in the afternoon. Thus the minutes of the meetings were
hand written bv Falcone. From 1972 to 1979 Falcone received numerous comolaints
from the staff"regarding inaccuracies in the minutes. Finally, in 1979, the
Association hired a full time secretary. In response to the continuous complaints,
Falcone had the secretary manually record the minutes of the meetings. However,
staff complaints continued. Falcone testified that a manual recordi($ 03f6;he
minutes was verv difficult since at times evervone sooke  at once. . . On
March 17, 1981,“at  a meeting of the Board of D?rectors  of the Association,.Falcone
discussed the problem of the minutes with the Board members. The Board agreed to
the use of a tape recorder at the staff meetings but left the final decision on
the use of a taoe recorder to Falcone. A staff meetina was held on March 24. 1981
at which time Falcone decided to use a tape recorder. "

On the record before us we conclude that the introduction of the tape recorder
into the staff meeting at this time was an attempt to eradicate the chronic com-
plaints regarding inaccuracies. There was no evidence that its introduction
produced a coercive effect on any staff members; indeed, the new procedure should
finally have satisfied them that there would be no further problem with inaccuracies

I
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We also find that the Association had a legitimate interest in improving the
quality and efficiency of the minutes. In other contexts we could find that
the use of a tape recorder to record staff meeting discussions might tend to
have a coercive effect. However, where the needthatprompted the use of the
recorder was one which was strongly expressed by the employees themselves and
where, as here, the introduction of the recorder was done in a non-threatening
manner, we see no violation of the Act.

We now turn to the consideration of whether the changing of the time of
MaryBeth Owens' morning break constituted coercion under the Act. Prior to
September 1, 1980, Ms. Owens, a teacher aide, generally took her morning break
with Mr. Pelletier, a teacher, at lo:30  a.m. During this time, Owens and
Pelletier were assigned to different groups of children. The usual practice at
the school was for one teacher and one teacher aide to be assigned to a particu-
lar group of children. Therefore, if one were absent on break, etc., there was
no opportunity for the children to be left unsupervised. Since Pelletier and
Owens were not assigned to the same children, there was no problem when they
took their breaks together. After September, 1980; Pelletier and Owens were
assigned to the same group of children. Thus, the children would be unsupervised
if Pelletier and Owens took their breaks simultaneously while the students were
in the classroom. Pelletier testified that when the children were in the play-
ground at 10:30,  he and Owens were able to be absent at the same time since there
were other teachers and aides available on the playground to supervise. (Tr. 1 1 ) .
If Pelletier and Owens were in the classroom together at 10:30,  they could not
break at the same time. (Tr. 11). On March 15, 1981, Mrs. Falcone  directed Owens
to take her morning break at lo:45  rather than at lo:30  to ensure that the children
were never left unsupervised by their regularly assigned teachers. We find that
this change in Owens' break represents a legitimate interest of the Association
in the safety of the children. Further, we do not see that such a changing of
break times to conform with the normal practice would tend to have coercive effects
and none were shown by the record to have resulted. The absence of coercion on
Pelletier and Owens is especially emphasized by the fact that they apparently.
spent the majority of the rest of the day together.

We now turn to an analysis of the charge alleging.that the Association's
changes were discriminatory. Under the federal act, 29 U.S.C. 5158(a)(3)  pro-
hibits"'discrimination in regard to hire or tenure of employment or any term or
condition of employment to encourage or discourage membership in any labor organ-
ization." The standard of proof applicable to an alleged 8(a)(3) violation is as
follows:

First, if'it can reasonably be concluded that the employer's
discriminatory conduct was "inherently destructive" of im-
portant employee rights, no proof of an antiunion motivation
is needed and the Board can find an unfair labor practice
even if the employer introduces evidence that the conduct
was motivated by business considerations. Second, if the
adverse effect of the discriminatory conduct on employee
rights is "comparatively slight," an antiunion motivation
must be proved to sustain the charge if the employer has come
forward with evidence of legitimate a% substantial business
justifications for the conduct.

NLRB v. Great Dane Trailers, Inc., 388 U.S. 26, 34 (1967).

Similarly, in Connecticut Yankee Catering Co., Inc. v. Local 217, Hotel and.
Restaurant Employees and Bartenders Union, AFL-CIO, Dec.. No. 1601 (1977),  we
stated:

The Union has the burden of proving that either or both of the
complainants were discharged or otherwise discriminated against
because of their activity on behalf of the Union, or at least
that their Union activity was a substantial factor in bringing
about their discharges or other discrimination. This must be
shown by substantial evidence but this need not consist in
direct evidence of improper motive. Such direct evidence is
rarely available and the Union is entitled to the benefit of
any inferences that are reasonable under the circumstances and
that are in fact drawn by the Board.
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The Association's implementation of the use of a tape recorder at staff
meetings does not fall within the first category of "inherently destructive"

.acts. As previously discussed, we have established that the motivating force

behind the introduction of the tape recorder was the desire to improve the
accuracy of the minutes and eradicate staff complaints. Therefore, under the
second Great Dane test, even if the use of the tape recorder in the context of
this case could have been found to have exerted a "comparatively slight" adverse
effect on the employees, the Association would have sustained its burden of
coming forward with a legitimate business purpose thereby shifting the burden
k;riz;  Union to prove anti-union animus. And the Union has not sustained that

The Union asslgned some importance to the fact that Pelletier was the
president and steward of the local; however, the Association was shown to have
had no knowledge of Pelletier's capacity until after the complaint in this case
was filed. In its brief, the Union asserts that the Association clearly demon-
strated its anti-union animus through a "forceful anti-union campaign." Our
review of the record reveals that the "campaign" consisted of an expression of
the Association's views toward unionization through correspondence to the
employees. Nothing in the correspondence crossed the line into the area of
evidence which would support a finding of anti-union animus. Finally, the Union
has attempted to prove anti-union animus through a statement allegedly made by
Mrs. Falcone to her secretary shortly after the Union had won the election in
which she allegedly stated about the employees, "They will pay for this." (Tr..
27). We find the testimony of Falcone denying the statement more credible than
the testimony of Owens who claims to have overheard the remark while walking
past Falcone's office although she cannot recall other details surrounding the
incident.

We next analyze whether the change in Owens' break time constituted dis-
crimination. We cannot construe such activity as 'falling within the first Great
Dane category of "inherently destructive" acts. We therefore move to a consider-
ation of the second test, The Association hassustained its burden of proving a
legitimate business purpose, i.e., the motivation behind the change was to pre-
vent the possibility of unsupervised children. The burden is thus shifted once
again to the Union to prove anti-union animus. ke Union relies on the same
proof of anti-union animus just discussed with regard to the use of the tape
recorder. We reiterate that the Union has not sustained its burden.

O R D E R

By virtue of and pursuant to the powers vested in the Connecticut State
Board of Labor Relations by the Connecticut State Labor Relations Act, it is

ORDERED, that the complaint herein be, and the same hereby is, dismissed.

CONNECTICUT STATE BOARD OF LABOR RELATIONS

B Y s/ Kenneth A. Stroble
Kenneth A. Stroble

s/ Patricia V. Low
Patricia V. Low
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